


grounds of sandwiching, but have subsequently been appealed by Stokes Morgan and consent 
granted by the Planning Inspectorate. It should be a material consideration that the cited 
planning appeals were contextually very different to the Proposed Development and therefore 
cannot reasonably be used to demonstrate precedence for this type of development. 
Specifically:  

  
a.         The appeal decision at 195 Wordsworth Road (planning ref: 21/00551/F) confirms that in 
this case, the sandwiching of a property opposite the appeal property was not considered to 
occur because it was separated by a road. It should be noted however that the appeal property 
was in Lockleaze, a 1940s / 1950s housing estate built to much lower density than the Victorian 
/ 1930s terraces on Conway Road, Brislington. Both the existing HMO and the non-HMO in the 
Lockleaze case had off-street parking, and as stated by the inspector, there was no evidence to 
show that the proposed HMO would ‘result in any additional pressure on on-street parking’. 
Conway Road by comparison is a cul de sac that has very little scope for off-street parking or 
parking controls and the addition of a large HMO on Conway Road would therefore cause 
significant harm to the residential amenity residents in the immediate vicinity of the Proposed 
Development.  

  
b.         The appeal decision at Flat 1,10 Argyle Road (planning ref: 22/03553/F) also demonstrates 
that sandwiching was not considered to occur between properties on opposite sides of the 
road. Of note is the inspector’s conclusion that sandwiching of a property between HMOs on 
the same side of the road was also not considered to occur, however this application was 
materially different as it was for the ‘retention’ of an existing HMO with no additional 
households. The inspector therefore concluded that the application could not cause harm 
compared to the pre-development scenario as there was no change in density of households in 
the area. It should also be noted that the appeal property was in St Paul, an area with a 
residents parking scheme and where planning conditions on additional vehicles could 
reasonably be enforced.  

  
3.         The assessment of harm to residential amenity, and in particular parking, should be made 
with respect to the baseline of a C3a dwellinghouse, not a C4 small HMO. It is noted that the 
applicant’s fallback position is for a 6-person HMO, the largest possible under permitted 
development rights and that a certificate of lawfulness for this has been granted by Bristol City 
Council. However, the dwelling is not currently in use as 6-person HMO, is currently vacant and 
was previously owner-occupied. Indeed, the development description states that the Proposed 
Development is for the ‘change of use from a dwelling house used by a single person (C3a) to a 
large dwellinghouse in multiple occupation (sui generis) for seven people’.  

  
4.         The Applicant’s cover letter, prepared by Stokes Morgan planning consultants 
misleadingly states that ‘a rented property in the local area is 2 times more likely to have no 
access to a vehicle than an owner-occupied property’. The cited statistics are that 12% of 
owner-occupied properties have no access to a car, whereas 26% of households in privately-
rented accommodation have no access to a car. It therefore follows that 74% of privately-
rented households, and 86% of owner-occupied properties do have access to a car. The 
Proposed Development site was previously owner occupied and as the Proposed Development 
is for 7 households, this could add up to a significant number of additional vehicles (i.e. 74% x 
7 households = 5.18 cars, compared to the average for owner-occupied dwellings of 86% x 1 
household = 0.86 cars). Statistically, the proposed large HMO would therefore be expected to 
add 4.32 cars to the street, compared to the owner-occupied non-HMO.  

  



5.         The additional vehicles resulting from the conversion of the Proposed Development site to 
a large HMO could not reasonably be accommodated on Conway Road without significant 
harm to residential amenity. There is very little scope for off-street parking, and even if a 
dropped curb were proposed, this would increase parking pressures on the street because it 
would permanently reserve the space for one of the HMO occupants, rather than being 
communally available for the whole street. There is also no residential parking scheme in 
Brislington and therefore it is not possible for the council or the landlord to restrict the number 
of vehicles brought to the property.  
  
6.         This application should therefore be refused.  
  
Yours Sincerely, 
 
Jenny Hughes 
 




